STATE OF WISCONSIN

**RECEIVED** 09-16-2014

COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Appeal No. 2014AP001575 CR

\_\_\_\_\_

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

CLIFTON ROBINSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POST CONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT BRANCH 20, THE HONORABLE DENNIS P. MORONOEY PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

JON ALFONSO LAMENDOLA STATE BAR NUMBER 1030744

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

LAMENDOLA LAW OFFICE 375 E. ARBOR CIRCLE W. OAK CREEK, WI 53154 (414)-762-6028

attyjonlamendola@gmail.com

###

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

- I) Is the defendant entitled to a new trial under Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986) because the State did not present adequate reasons for striking the only remaining African-American juror?
- II) Is the defendant entitled to a new trial based upon insufficiency of the evidence?
- III) Is the defendant entitled to a new trial because Counts 2 and 3 were not severed?
- IV) Is the defendant entitled to a new trial where the jury was not presented with alternative jury instructions including lesser included offenses?
- V) Is the defendant entitled to a new trial by the trial court admitted Exhibit #10 (a photo of the defendant raising his middle finger to officers) because it was unduly prejudicial and cumulative evidence?
- VI) Is the defendant entitled to a new trial for the reason that trial counsel was ineffective due to a failure to act as follows?: A) file a motion to sever the charges;
  B) object to unduly prejudicial testimonial evidence admitted at trial; C) present Detective Elisabeth Wallich as a witness at trial; D) object to the State's request for Exhibit #10 to be moved into evidence; E) motion the court for an instruction, at the close of evidence to the juror's for the lesser included offenses; F) object to exhibits 3 and 4 (crime scene photos) being moved into evidence.

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

There is no need for oral argument. The arguments of each party will be sufficiently presented in the briefs. This decision will clarify existing law. Therefore, the defendant-appellant requests publication.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 1, 2012 the State filed a felony criminal complaint in Milwaukee County Circuit Court charging the defendant. The defendant exercised his right to a preliminary hearing on September 10, 2012 whereby the court found that probable cause existed that the defendant committed a felony and bound him over for trial. On April 9, 2013 a jury unanimously found the defendant guilty of count 2, Criminal Damage to Property in violation of Wis. Stats. Sec. §943.01(1) and count 3, Armed Robbery with Use of Force as a Party to a crime in violation of Wis. Stats. Sec. §943.32(2), §939.05. The Honorable Dennis P. Moroney sentenced the defendant in both matters on May 6, 2013. The court ordered six (6) month jail on count 2 concurrent to count 3 and five (5) years initial confinement and five (5) years extended supervision on count 3. The defendant was found not eligible for the Challenge Incarceration or Substance Abuse early release programs. Sentence credit was modified to represent 143 days credit on both counts. The defendant appealed by filing a timely Notice of Intent.

On March 17, 2014 the defendant, by his appellate counsel, filed a post-conviction motion requesting relief. The court ordered a briefing schedule on the issues. The

State filed its response to the defendant's post-conviction motion on May 14, 2014 and the defendant filed its reply on June 11, 2014. On June 19, 2014 the Honorable Dennis P. Moroney issued a Decision and Order denying the defendant's motion for post-conviction relief. The defendant filed a Notice of Appeal on July 8, 2014. The defendant now appeals directly to the Court of Appeals seeking relief from the Judgment of Conviction and denial of his post-conviction motion.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In count 2 the defendant allegedly "did intentionally cause damage to the physical property of Deborah E. Sims" and that in count 3, and that the defendant committed Armed Robbery (Use of Force) as a party to the crime, alleging he "took property from the presence of Deborah E. Sims, the owner, by use of force."

During the jury trial, the State called several witnesses; namely: 1) Walter Hines (Ms. Sims fiancé); 2) Officer Thomas Marcus; 3) Officer Anthony Wilson; and 4) Officer Jason Darova. The defendant exercised his right to remain silent and called no witnesses at trial.

Based upon the testimony at trial, the evidence revealed that on August 26, 2012 in the County and City of Milwaukee, the apartment manager Walter Hines, who lives in apartment 101, indicated that his fiancé called the police after hearing someone kicking at the door in an apartment across the hall and hearing someone discharge a firearm in the hallway. Mr. Hines stated that after informing the suspect individuals that there was a camera recording the

activities in the complex, and that the police had been called, the defendant and three other individuals entered Mr. Hines' apartment. While in the apartment, demands were made to obtain the video recording and Mr. Hines gave "the male with the white shirt with braids the tape."

After giving the individual the tape, Mr. Hines saw the police outside, let them in and as they were coming back to the apartment, he saw the male in the white t-shirt with braids standing in front of his door with his video games and the tape; Mr. Hines testified, "the one I gave him, and my wife's purse." He clarified that "the pouch he was holding belonged to his fiancé."

Mr. Hines also testified that he was told by police "to put the stuff back out there, leave all the stuff where it was, so I put it back on the floor." Mr. Hines clarified that the photo of the items taken did reflect the way Hines placed the items but not the way the male in the white t-shirt and braids had dropped them, "but in the same area."

Officer Thomas Marcus testified that he did not see a gun on Mr. Robinson, and that when he got inside the door is when the defendant started running. He testified that he hadn't seen the defendant drop anything.

Officer Anthony Wilson testified that he had shown Mr. Hines pictures and that Mr. Hines had picked a photo filler of a different individual.

Officer Darova testified that by the time he had arrived on scene, the alleged items taken were not on scene. He further testified that he did not see "a white bag" that was in the photograph." Officer Darova mentioned that Mr. Hines was instructed by an officer to leave the items in the hallway, but that prior to his arrival, those items that had been in the hallway were on the kitchen

table as they were not in the same area where they should have originally been. Officer Darova "considered these items to be contaminated." He also testified that the items "would have been taken back a second time."

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The defendant is entitled to a new trial under *Batson* v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986) because the State did not present adequate reasons for striking the only remaining potential African-American juror.

Under Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986), the State denies a black defendant equal protection when it puts him on trial before a jury from which members of his race have been purposely excluded and the Equal Protection Clause guarantees the defendant that the State will not exclude members of his race from the jury venire on account of race, or on the false assumption that members of his race as a group are not qualified to serve as jurors.

The record indicates that defense counsel challenged the State's striking of the last African-American juror pursuant to *Batson vs. Kentucky*. The defendant is African-American. Trial counsel raised the challenge before the jury was sworn via the Court's reserving his right to challenge same. (64:36-37). Trial counsel stated that, "we objected to the fact that Juror Number 26 was the last remaining African American that was left on the jury after the Court's administrative picks." (64:61:15-18). The

record reflects that the court accepted the State's explanation stating that, "it only happened once, Judge, but you were making a comment about something about lunch or about what they were supposed to do, and she just, she didn't seem to be following what you were saying and she was laughing and gesturing to the juror next to her, and it struck me at the time that she wasn't following what you were saying or that it was inappropriate what her response was; and I made a note on my card about it that she just didn't seem to be with it about what was happening in the courtroom." (64:62-63).

Given the State's unclear and varying reasons stated on the record for its strike, the defendant maintains that under the circumstances, without further inquiry by the court or further voir dire of the juror, the State had not satisfied the minimal standard in *Batson v. Kentucky*; that is that it exercised race-neutrality in its peremptory challenge.

The defendant preserved in his post-conviction motion and noted in his reply to the State's brief, that additional question of the State were necessary and that the State's response inherently does not constitute an adequate reason to strike juror number 26 on a race-neutral basis. The defendant asserts that the record remains unclear as to how the "inappropriate" behavior of juror number 26 relates to her ability to perform as a "fair and impartial" juror. Additional inquiry is necessary for the court to formulate a proper decision regarding whether the reaction of juror number 26, as noted by the State, was in reaction to the judge's comment about lunch or what she was supposed to be doing. Furthermore, clarification is needed to determine whether the State considered striking (or not

striking), and for what rationale, the juror she was communicating with at the time. Was she communicating with juror 25 or 27? Juror 27 ultimately remained on the panel. (50:2-3).

In its Decision and Order denying the motion without hearing, the court maintained that it "stands by the record on the afternoon of April 8, 2013 and finds that the State provided a race neutral reason for striking the juror." (51:2).

# II. The defendant is entitled to a new trial based upon insufficiency of the evidence.

In State v. Poellinger, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990). "In reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction, an appellate court may not substitute its judgment for that of the trier of fact unless the evidence, viewed most favorably to the state and the conviction, is so lacking in probative value and force that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. If any possibility exists that the trier of fact could have drawn the appropriate inferences from the evidence adduced at trial to find the requisite guilt, an appellate court may not overturn a verdict even if it believes that the trier of fact should not have found guilt based on the evidence before it." Poellinger, at 507.

Based upon the record, the evidence was insufficient to find the defendant guilty of either count. As to the criminal damage to property, the criminal complaint indicates that the victim, Deborah M. Sims was the owner of

said property and did not consent to the defendant damaging her property. The record is simply devoid of sufficient evidence from which a reasonable jury could conclude that Deborah M. Sims was the owner of said property and that she did not consent to any physical damage. The argument that this can be inferred or implied does not create an adequate record.

As to the armed robbery count, the complaint states that the defendant "took property from the presence of Deborah M. Sims, the owner." However, the evidence of record is insufficient to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that victim Sims had property taken from her presence and that she was, most importantly, the owner of said property.

During the trial, the State presented only one witness, Mr. Walter Hines, whose testimony was indeterminate regarding which individual took the property; i.e., he was unable to identify the individual via photo array with police, he never identified the defendant in court, and there was a discrepancy regarding whether the person wore a black hoodie or a white t-shirt. It was also indeterminate from his testimony as to what property was taken from whom during the incident; i.e., the white purse versus the black purse.

To further muddy the evidentiary waters, Walter Hines further testified that he had removed the items taken from the apartment and then returned them to where they were dropped. These contaminated items (as coined by Detective Darova) were later photographed by the police — establishing a reasonable doubt regarding what items were in fact originally taken. Ultimately, there was insufficient evidence that the items taken were in fact those from the person of Ms. Deborah Sims.

In reference to and in support of this claim, the defendant offers the following relevant trial testimony:

#### A. Walter Hines:

#### On direct examination:

- He "was the apartment manager" and that he "lives in apartment 101." (64:68:12-16);
- Initially, there was one male on scene and he "was wearing the white T-shirt and braids." (64:71:5-15);
- "My fiancé had went into the apartment, she called the police." (64:72:6-7);
- A second male was wearing a black sweatshirt with a hoodie, (64:75:12-15);
- I gave him (the male white shirt with braids) the tape. (64:80:7-11);
- Then after giving the tape, stuff started going on in the house, so I had a chance to see the police outside . . . I had a chance to run out my apartment door to let the police in and we were coming back into my apartment, he was standing in front of my door with my video games and the tape, the one I gave him, and my wife purse. And when he saw the police, he dropped everything on the floor.

  (64:81:2-13);
- So when the police came in and he saw him with my stuff in his hand, and he started took off running out the back door. (64:82:19-21);
- And the pouch that he was holding belonged to his fiancé. (64:83:21-24);

#### On cross-examination and redirect:

- He was told by police "to put the stuff back out there, leave all the stuff where it was, so I put it back on the floor." (65:28:18-20);
- In reference to Exhibit #9, Hines testified that, it reflected the way that Hines placed the items not the way he (male in white t-shirt and braids) dropped it. "But it's in the same area." (65:39:3-7);

#### On re-cross-examination:

• Hines testified that it was "five to ten minutes" after the incident occurred before he put the items back out into the hallway. (65:41:3-6);

#### B. Officer Thomas Marcus:

- He did not see a gun on Mr. Robinson. (65:57:8-12);
- "When I got inside the door, that's when he started running." (65:57:21-22);
- He did not recall the defendant dropping anything at the door before he started running. (65:58:11-18);

#### C. Officer Anthony Wilson:

• He had shown Mr. Hines pictures from exhibits #11 and #12. And said that Mr. Hines picked the photo of a filler, #2, a Garrett Clark. (65:75-76);

#### D. Officer Jason Darova:

- That by the time he arrived on scene, the items in exhibit #9 were not at the scene. (65:88:18-24);
- That Mr. Hines mentioned a white bag being taken.
  . . .And further testified that, he did not see a white bag in the photograph. (66:8:5-14);
- When asked whether he "ever had a fingerprint technician attempt to take fingerprints of from off of the items that were supposedly taken by Mr. Robinson?" he replied, "no." (66:8:15-19);
- "I learned that the items were gathered that Mr. Hines was instructed by an officer to leave the items in the hallway, but prior to my arrival, those items that had been in the hallway were now on the kitchen table. Because they weren't in the same area where they would have where they should have been originally. I considered those items to be contaminated. So, no I did not have them processed for fingerprints." (66:8-9);
- And that, the items "would have been taken back a second time because when I arrived on the scene, the items were on the kitchen table." (66:10:9-12).

It is noteworthy that evidence was never introduced by trial counsel that detective Elisabeth Wallich, who testified under oath at the preliminary hearing, that no property was taken from Deborah Sims. (15:9:8-9).

The Court summarily concluded that any property taken from the apartment could be inferred as property owned by or taken from the presence of Ms. Deborah M. Sims, under the party to a crime statute. The defendant contends that the record is incomplete to the extent that any reasonable jury could determine that the State met the elements of armed robbery beyond a reasonable doubt. Moreover, more than a reasonable doubt exists suggesting that the defendant did not take property of or from the presence of Ms. Sims as stated in the criminal complaint.

In response to the defendant's post-conviction motion on this issue and having raised the fact that Detective Wallich's testimony was lacking at trial, the circuit court concluded in its Decision and Order without a hearing, that "there was more than sufficient evidence to convict the defendant on both counts." (51:2)

## III. The defendant entitled to a new trial because Counts 2 and 3 were not severed.

In this case, joinder of the offenses in this action were not compliant with Sec 971.12(1) and (3) which state:

"(1) Joinder of crimes. Two or more crimes may be charged in the same complaint, information or indictment in a separate count for each crime if the crimes charged, whether felonies or misdemeanors, or both, are of the same or similar character or are

based on the same act or transaction or on 2 or more or transactions connected together constituting parts of a common scheme or plan. When a misdemeanor is joined with a felony, the trial shall be in the court with jurisdiction to try the felony. And; (3) Relief from prejudicial joinder. appears that a defendant or the state is prejudiced by a joinder of crimes or of defendants in a complaint, information or indictment or by such joinder for trial together, the court may order separate trials of counts, grant a severance of defendants or provide whatever other relief justice requires. The district attorney shall advise the court prior to trial if the district attorney intends to use the statement of a codefendant which implicates another defendant in the crime charged. Thereupon, the judge shall grant a severance as to any such defendant; Bailey v. State, 65 Wis. 2d at 346; State v. Kramer, 45 Wis. 2d 20, 36, 171 N.W. 2d 919 (1969).

Furthermore in  $State\ v.\ Bettinger,\ 100\ Wis.2d\ 691\ (1981),\ the Wisconsin Supreme Court acknowledged that,$ 

prejudice arising under these [t]he risk of circumstances is related to the prejudice which arises when evidence of other crimes or wrongful acts is admitted improperly at trial. See sec. 904.04(2), Stats. When a jury is informed of the accused's previous wrongful conduct, it is likely that it will consider that the defendant is a "bad person" prone to criminal conduct. It is also possible that the jury will confuse the issues and will be incapable of separating the evidence. Therefore there is a serious risk that a conviction will result without regard to the facts proven relative to the crime charged. Similarly, when some evidence is introduced to prove the commission of multiple criminal acts joined in one information, there is a risk that the defendant will be convicted not because the facts demonstrate guilt beyond a reasonable doubt but because the jury may conclude that the accused is predisposed to committing crimes and that "some" evidence is "enough" evidence to return a conviction. In a trial on joint charges, there is also the possibility that the \*697 jury will cumulate the evidence of the crimes charged and find guilt when it otherwise would not if the crimes were separately tried. See Bailey v. State, supra, 65 Wis. 2d at 346; State v. Kramer, 45 Wis. 2d 20, 36, 171 N.W. 2d 919 (1969). Bettinger at p. 696.

The two counts in this action should have been severed as the defendant's alleged prior act of criminal damage to property constitutes a "prior bad act" in relationship to the armed robbery with use of force, as party to a crime. The introduction of that evidence was unduly prejudicial and the evidence of Criminal Damage to Property was inadmissible to prove commission of the Armed Robbery.

That is, "whether or not . . . evidence of the commission of one of the charges would be admissible to prove the commission of the second charge. In Wisconsin, "other crimes" evidence "is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show that he acted in conformity therewith." Sec. 904.04(2), Stats. See. Bettinger at pp. 697-698.

Trial counsel, in his motions in limine, petitioned that, "the prosecution be prohibited from introducing alleged acts of criminal or other misconduct by the defendant either prior to or following the date of the alleged offense charged in the complaint." In part, that request was based upon the defendant's motions in limine sec (1)(b) which states, "The probative value of such other crimes evidence, if any is outweighed by its prejudicial effect and by the likelihood that the jury would infer that the defendant is predisposed to commit the crime charged in the complaint." (6:1-2).

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