#### **RECEIVED**

11-19-2014

### STATE OF WISCONSIN

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** COURT OF APPEAL OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT I

Case No. 2014AP1575 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CLIFTON ROBINSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DENNIS P. MORONEY PRESIDING

#### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

J.B. VAN HOLLEN **Attorney General** 

DONALD V. LATORRACA **Assistant Attorney General** State Bar #1011251

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

## I. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY REJECTED ROBINSON'S *BATSON* CHALLENGE.

Robinson claims that the circuit court erred when it denied his *Batson* challenge after the State struck the last remaining African-American juror on the panel. Robinson's brief at 5-7. The circuit court denied Robinson's *Batson* challenge both at trial and during postconviction proceedings, finding that the prosecutor provided a race-neutral reason for striking the juror (64:63-65; 51:2).

## A. General legal principles related to *Batson* challenges.

In *Batson*, the United States Supreme Court held that "the Equal Protection Clause forbids the prosecutor to challenge potential jurors solely on account of their race or on the assumption that black jurors as a group will be unable impartially to consider the State's case against a black defendant." *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79, 89 (1986). Wisconsin courts apply *Batson's* three-step process for determining if a prosecutor's peremptory strikes violated the Equal Protection Clause. *State v. Lamon*, 2003 WI 78, ¶ 27, 262 Wis. 2d 747, 664 N.W.2d 607.

First, the defendant must establish a prima facie case of discriminatory intent. The defendant must show that (1) he is a member of a cognizable group and that the prosecutor has exercised peremptory challenges to remove

members of the defendant's race from the venire; and (2) the facts and relevant circumstances raise an inference that the prosecutor used peremptory strikes to exclude venirepersons due to their race. Id. ¶ 28. In determining whether a defendant has made the requisite showing, the circuit court must consider all relevant circumstances, including any pattern of strikes against jurors of the defendant's race and the prosecutor's voir dire questions and statements. Id.

Second, if the defendant has established a prima facie Batson violation, the State bears the burden of providing a neutral explanation for striking the excused juror. Id. ¶ 29. The prosecutor must provide a clear and reasonably specific explanation related to the case at hand. The prosecutor's explanation need not rise to the level necessary to justify a strike for cause. *Id.* ¶ 29. A "neutral explanation" means a reason based on a factor other than the juror's race. *Id.* ¶ 30. Unless discriminatory intent is inherent in the prosecutor's explanation, a court should deem the reason the prosecutor offered as race-neutral. *Id*. ¶ 30. The proffered explanation need not be persuasive or merely plausible. But a prosecutor's mere denial of a discriminatory motive or assertion that he or she acted in good faith does not constitute an adequate explanation for the strike.  $Id. \P 31$ .

Third, if the prosecutor provides a race-neutral explanation, the defendant bears the burden of persuading the court that "the prosecutor purposefully discriminated or that the prosecutor's explanations were a pretext for intentional discrimination." Id. ¶ 32. At this stage, the circuit court may assess the persuasiveness and plausibility of the prosecutor's reasons for the strike and determine whether the prosecutor engaged in purposeful discrimination. Id. ¶ 32. Merely establishing that a prosecutor's strikes had a disparate impact is insufficient to establish a violation of the Equal Protection Clause. Id. ¶ 34.

A defendant must make a timely *Batson* objection before the jury is sworn. *State v. Jones*, 218 Wis. 2d 599, 601-02, 581 N.W.2d 561 (Ct. App. 1998).

Standard of review: Whether a peremptory strike had discriminatory intent is a question of fact decided by the circuit court. Lamon, 262 Wis. 2d 747, ¶ 41. The circuit court is best positioned to determine the credibility of the state's race-neutral reason. Id. ¶ 42. As such, this court should give great deference to the circuit court's finding on discriminatory intent. Id. ¶ 41. On appeal, this court will only overturn a circuit court's finding on the issue of discriminatory intent if it was clearly erroneous. Id. ¶ 43. This standard applies to each step of the Batson analysis. Id. ¶ 45. De novo review is only available if the circuit court did not have an opportunity to evaluate credibility. Id. ¶ 46.

B. Robinson has not demonstrated that the trial court erred when it found that the prosecutor did not act with a racially discriminatory intent.

Robinson timely objected to the prosecutor's exercise of his peremptory challenge (64:36). After the circuit court excused the jury, Robinson objected to the prosecutor's strike of Juror 26, the only remaining African-American on the jury panel (64:61). Robinson dismissed the prosecutor's explanation for striking Juror 26 and asserted that the prosecutor more likely struck Juror 26 because of her race (64:62). On appeal, Robinson asserts that the State has not demonstrated a race-neutral reason for striking her. Robinson's brief at 6. Robinson's *Batson* challenge does not survive application of *Batson's* three-part test.

First, Robinson must make a prima facie case of discriminatory intent. The State does not dispute that

Robinson is an African-American and that the prosecutor exercised a peremptory challenge against Juror 26, an African-American juror (64:61-62). But Robinson does not identify any other relevant facts or circumstances that raise an inference that the prosecutor exercised his peremptory challenge on account of the juror's race. Robinson simply did not make a prima facie showing of discriminatory intent.

But this court need not decide whether Robinson actually made a preliminary showing of intentional discrimination. This preliminary question becomes moot if the prosecutor has offered a race-neutral explanation and the trial court has decided the ultimate issue of intentional discrimination. *State v. King*, 215 Wis. 2d 295, 303, 572 N.W.2d 530 (Ct. App. 1997).

Second, the prosecutor offered a race-neutral explanation for his strike against Juror 26. The prosecutor explained that he did not even realize that Juror 26 "was the last remaining African-American on the panel" (64:62). Before the noon break, the prosecutor observed that when the circuit court was providing directions to the jury, Juror 26

didn't seem to be following what you were saying and she was laughing and gesturing to the juror next to her, and it struck me at the time that she wasn't following what you were saying or that it was inappropriate what her response was; and I made a note on my card about it that she just didn't seem to be with it about what was happening in the courtroom.

#### (64:63.) This is a race-neutral explanation.

Under *Batson's* third step, the circuit court weighed the credibility of the prosecutor's explanation that Juror 26 was not paying attention. The circuit court observed that the prosecutor was only seven or eight feet away from the juror and better positioned than the circuit court to determine whether Juror 26 was paying attention (64:64).

Further, the circuit court also noted that Robinson's trial counsel was not paying attention to what Juror 26 was doing (64:61, 63). Under the circumstances, the circuit court concluded that a *Batson* violation did not occur (64:64-65).

The circuit court's acceptance of the prosecutor's race-neutral explanation constitutes an implicit finding that the explanation was credible and not a pretext for racial discrimination. Robinson has not established that the circuit court's finding was clearly erroneous. As such, this court should reject Robinson's *Batson* claim.

# II. THE STATE PRESENTED SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT ROBINSON'S CONVICTIONS.

Robinson contends that he is entitled to a new trial because the evidence presented at trial was insufficient to support his convictions for armed robbery and criminal damage to property. Robinson's brief at 7-8. With respect to the armed robbery charge, Robinson asserts that the State failed to present sufficient evidence that D.S. owned the property or that Robinson took it from D.S.'s presence. With respect to the criminal damage to property charge, Robinson argues that the State did not establish D.S.'s ownership of the damaged property or her nonconsent to its damage. Robinson also challenges the sufficiency of the evidence with respect to the witness' identification of him. As the State will demonstrate, it presented ample evidence to the jury from which it could find Robinson guilty of both offenses.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> When the State does not present sufficient evidence to support a conviction, the proper remedy is vacation of the judgment of conviction and entry of a judgment of acquittal. *See, e.g., State v. Ivy,* 119 Wis. 2d 591, 608-10, 350 N.W.2d 622 (1984).

## A. General legal principles related to the sufficiency of the evidence claims.

A court reviews a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence in a light most favorable to the conviction. A reviewing court should not reverse a conviction based upon the insufficiency of the evidence unless the evidence is "so lacking in probative value and force" that no reasonable jury could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 507, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990). If more than one reasonable inference may be drawn from the evidence, the reviewing court must adopt the inference that supports the verdict. *Id.* at 503-04. "Once the jury accepts the theory of guilt, an appellate court need only decide whether the evidence supporting that theory is sufficient to sustain the verdict." *State v. Mertes*, 2008 WI App 179, ¶ 11, 315 Wis. 2d 756, 762 N.W.2d 813.

### B. Sufficient evidence supports both convictions.

Robinson raises several distinct claims regarding the sufficiency of the evidence in support of his convictions. Robinson's brief at 7-12. The State will address them separately.<sup>4</sup>

Robinson makes a more general assertion that "the record is incomplete to the extent that any reasonable jury could determine that the State met the elements of armed robbery beyond a reasonable doubt." Robinson's brief at 12. But Robinson's specific argument focuses on the sufficiency of the evidence with respect to his identification, ownership of the property taken or damaged, and whether the property was taken from D.S.'s presence. The State will only respond to the specific claims that Robinson makes. *See State v. Pettit*, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992) (a court may decline to review issues that a litigant has insufficiently developed or briefed). Further, at the close of the State's case, Robinson moved for a directed verdict (66:11). The circuit court denied the motion, carefully identifying the facts in the record that support the elements for each crime (66:14-21). The circuit court's

1. Sufficient evidence supports the witnesses' identification of Robinson.

Robinson appears to challenge the evidence that supported his identification as the man with the white shirt and braids involved with both the armed robbery and criminal damage to property. Robinson's brief at 8. To be sure, W.H. failed to identify Robinson from the photo array as the man with the white shirt and braids (65:76-77). But the record supports Officer Marcus' identification of Robinson as the person whom W.H. identified as wearing the white shirt and having braids in his hair.

W.H. identified a man with the white shirt and braids participating in the disturbance outside apartment 107 and ripping the camera off the wall (65:17-18). The video surveillance tape corroborates W.H.'s observations and shows a man with a white shirt and braids pulling the camera from the wall (68:Ex 1 at 23:17:00). In addition, W.H. also identified the man with the white shirt and braids as being present when the woman pointed a gun at W.H.'s head (65:18). Both the woman with the gun and the man with the white shirt and braids demanded money and the security tape from W.H. inside W.H.'s apartment (65:18).

After W.H. let Officer Marcus inside the building, W.H. observed the man with the white shirt and braids outside his apartment with the security tape and W.H.'s and D.S.'s property. The man with the white shirt and braids ran when he saw the police (65:18). Officer Marcus gave chase, remaining within twenty feet of the man with the white shirt and braids, never losing sight of him until he was arrested (65:50-51). Officer Marcus identified Robinson as the person whom he arrested (65:57-58).

reasoning also supports a finding that sufficient evidence supports Robinson's conviction.

Robinson suggests that "there was a discrepancy regarding whether the person wore a black hoodie or a white t-shirt." Robinson's brief at 8. There was no discrepancy. W.H. described two men as being present, with the man wearing a black hoodie arriving later (64:75).W.H. repeatedly identified the man with the white shirt and braids as the person who destroyed the camera, demanded money and the tape, and was observed outside his apartment with W.H.'s and D.S.'s property. Based upon W.H.'s and Officer Marcus' testimony, the jury could reasonably conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that Robinson was the man with the white shirt and braids and that Robinson participated in the armed robbery and criminally damaged property.

2. Sufficient evidence supports Robinson's armed robbery conviction.

With respect to the armed robbery charge, Robinson asserts that the State failed to establish that D.S. owned the property taken or that the property was taken from D.S.'s person or presence. Robinson's brief at 8. Ample evidence exists in the record to support the claim that Robinson took both D.S.'s and W.H.'s property and took it from their presence.

**D.S. owned some of the property taken in the armed robbery**. While D.S. did not testify, W.H. did. W.H. resided with D.S. in apartment 101 (64:68, 84). W.H. testified that after he let the police inside, he saw the man with the white shirt and braids (Robinson) standing outside the door to his apartment with a videotape, his video games, and "my wife['s] purse" (64:81, 83; 65:15). W.H. later described the purse or pouch that the man with the white shirt and braids was carrying as belonging to his "fiancé" (64:83). Based upon this record, the jury could reasonably infer that one of the items that Robinson took during the armed robbery was D.S.'s purse.

**Property taken from D.S.'s presence.** Further, the jury could also reasonably conclude that Robinson took the property from D.S.'s presence. W.H. testified that D.S. was present.<sup>5</sup> While reviewing the surveillance video with the jury, W.H. differentiated between D.S. and the man with the white shirt and braids and the woman with the gun. They were outside the door to W.H.'s and D.S.'s apartment as he called the police (64:90-91; 65:30). W.H. also testified that the woman pointed the gun at his head. Both the woman with the gun and the man with the white shirt and braids demanded money and the surveillance tape from inside W.H.'s and D.S.'s apartment (64:75, 77, 79-80). While W.H. went outside to let the police in, W.H. stated that his fiancé was still inside the apartment with the three women and two men (65:39-40). When W.H. reentered the building with the police, Robinson was leaving W.H.'s apartment with W.H.'s and D.S.'s property (64:81, 83; 65:15). Finally, W.H. testified that his "wife" saw everything going on and would be able to testify exactly to it (65:36-37).

Based upon the record, the jury could reasonably infer that D.S. was in the apartment when Robinson and his accomplices entered the apartment and demanded money and the surveillance tape at gunpoint. Further, the jury could reasonably find that D.S. remained in the apartment when Robinson exited, and dropped D.S.'s and W.H.'s property upon seeing the police. Under the circumstances, the jury could reasonably conclude that the property was taken from D.S.'s and W.H.'s presence.

Instructions to the jury: Robinson does not address his sufficiency of the evidence claim in light of the circuit court's actual final jury instructions. Following the close of the evidence, the circuit court conducted an instruction conference, identifying the instructions it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> At the close of the State's case, Robinson moved for a directed verdict. Robinson argued "There has been no credible evidence presented to show that my client took those items from the presence of [W.H.]" (66:11). The circuit court rejected his argument (66:14-17).

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